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Press briefing, Trident Conference, Washington DC, 25 May 1943:


Question: Mr. Prime Minister, would you make a prediction on the progress of the war for the rest of this year? I have in mind the statement you and the President made at Casablanca, on new and heavier blows against all of the Axis members in 1943.


Churchill: Well, I think that seems to be a very sound prediction, and couched in terms which are unexceptionable from the point of view of military security. (Laughter).


Roosevelt: May I say one word, please? Don’t get the idea the conferences are concluded. They are not. They are continuing.


Churchill: We have a lot of ground to cover.


Roosevelt–Stalin meeting,


4 February 1945:


Roosevelt said he would now tell the Marshal something indiscreet, since he would not wish to say it in front of Churchill. For two years the British had had the idea of artificially building up France into a strong power, which would have 200,000 troops on her eastern border, to hold the line for the period required to assemble a strong British army. He said the British were a peculiar people and wished to have their cake and eat it too.


Terminal Conference,


17 July 1945:


Stalin had one question before they adjourned. Why did Churchill refuse to give Russia her share of the German fleet? Churchill exclaimed, “Why, because the fleet should be destroyed or shared; weapons of war are horrible things.” Stalin replied, let us divide it. “If Mr Churchill wishes, he can sink his share.” The meeting adjourned.
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Praise for Andrew Rawson’s companion volume, Eyes Only: The Top Secret Correspondence betweeen Marshall and Eisenhower:





A fascinating insight into the war in Europe – Britain at War





History as it occurred – not as it has been retold time and again through liberal interpretations and pundit opinions. After four years research for a biography of a former OSS operative at SHAEF, it opened my eyes to the reality of that War. I wish I had read it first, before studying 50 others. Forget the rest until you’ve read it. Eyes Only should be required reading for every World War II American history student studying the European theater for 1938 to 1945. Yes … It’s that important – Vic Currier
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INTRODUCTION


Between December 1941 and July 1945 the Allies had ten main conferences where the Heads of State and their advisors gathered to discuss the conduct of the war. Within these pages you will read the edited minutes of these meetings.


To begin with, it was only President Franklin D. Roosevelt of the United States and Prime Minister Winston S. Churchill of Great Britain making the decisions about strategy, aided by their Chiefs of Staff. Later on, Premier Joseph Stalin of the Soviet Union and Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek of China joined the conferences.


The first meeting, codename ARCADIA, was held in Washington just after the attack on Pearl Harbor on 7 December 1941 and it was a meeting of the two new Allies, the United States and Great Britain. The main decisions taken were to secure Great Britain and to attack Germany first rather than Japan, which involved securing a supply line across the Atlantic. The Declaration of the United Nations was also signed on 1 January 1942 by 26 governments. It stated “that complete victory over [their] enemies is essential to defend life, liberty, independence and religious freedom, and to preserve human rights and justice in their own lands as well as in other lands, and that [they] are now engaged in a common struggle against savage and brutal forces seeking to subjugate the world.” The words “complete victory” established the Allied precedent for obtaining unconditional surrender from the Axis powers later on.


There were many questions raised at ARCADIA and while Churchill returned to Britain, his Chiefs of Staff worked on with their American counterparts until May. They dealt with a host of issues in time for the Prime Minister’s return in June. The hastily organized conference had no name but important strategies were agreed. The main one was to make a landing on the North Africa coast before making a cross-channel attack against northern France.


The SYMBOL Conference was held on captured territory in Casablanca, Morocco, in January 1943 and it was the first time a President of the United States had left his country in time of war. The main topic was the Mediterranean campaign, particularly the invasion of Sicily, codename HUSKY, and where to go afterwards; Sardinia, Greece or the Italian mainland. The continuing build up of American troops in the United Kingdom, codename BOLERO, and the projected channel crossing were also discussed. Attempts to unify the French leaders, General Charles de Gaulle and General Henri Giraud, were also made.


The TRIDENT Conference was held in Washington in May 1943 and news that the Axis troops in Tunisia had surrendered, completing the capture of the North African coast, intensified planning for the Italian campaign. Now that the American air forces were concentrating in the United Kingdom plans were put in place to increase the bombing attacks on occupied Europe and Germany. Plans to step up the Pacific campaign were also discussed.


The QUADRANT Conference was held in Quebec in August 1943 because the climate was cooler than Washington. With Sicily taken and plans for the Italian campaign well underway, it was time to focus on the invasion of France the following spring. The reorganization of Southeast Asia command was also agreed.


Starting at the end of November 1943 there were three conferences in quick succession. The first SEXTANT conference was held in Cairo where Roosevelt and Churchill met Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek to discuss aid for China and postwar Asia. Roosevelt and Churchill then headed to Tehran in Iran to meet Stalin for the EUREKA conference, the first time the Big Three came together. Marshal Joseph Stalin, as Premier of the Soviet Union, had been unable to attend the previous conferences because he was too involved with the campaigns on the Eastern Front. By the end of 1943, the tide had turned in favour of the Red Army and he was able to meet Roosevelt and Churchill.


They agreed a final strategy for the defeat of Nazi Germany including a date for the invasion of Northwest France and a simultaneous attack on the Eastern Front. Stalin also suggested conducting a simultaneous attack against southern France, an idea the Allies eventually adopted. The third meeting, an extension of EUREKA, was again at Cairo and Roosevelt and Churchill took the opportunity to meet President Inonu of Turkey. They also reviewed a hectic two weeks of meetings.


In September 1944 it was back to Quebec for OCTAGON. By now the Allies had been ashore in France for two months but after a difficult campaign in Normandy, their troops had liberated most of the country. The end of the war in Europe was in sight and plans for postwar Germany were discussed. The Pacific campaign was also high on the agenda because it was increasing in momentum.


ARGONAUT involved two meetings in February 1945, just as the Allies were beginning their final offensive on Nazi Germany. Roosevelt and Churchill met briefly in Malta on 1 February before heading for Yalta in the Crimea to meet Stalin. They discussed the final offensive on Germany as well as developing their plans for postwar Europe. The conditions for the Soviet Union’s entry into the war on Japan were also discussed. The Yalta Declaration laid down the foundations for a postwar world and set an April date for the United Nations Conference.


The final conference was aptly named TERMINAL and it was held in Potsdam, in the outskirts of Berlin. With Germany defeated, there was plenty to discuss about postwar Europe and the final attack on Japan. Borders had to be decided, reparations had to be calculated, diplomacy had to be re-established and populations had to be fed. There were also old problems to solve, many of them caused by the Treaty of Versailles.


The United States and British Chiefs of Staff worked hard, before, during and after the conferences, performing many functions on behalf of the Heads of State. They reported on the current conduct of campaigns and suggested future operations. They also conducted assessments of the enemy capabilities and possible strategies. However, they had to consider their strategies as a whole because this was a global war the likes of which had not been seen before. Consultation with the air, army and navy chiefs of staff brought together a great deal of information and views. For example, what may have been a strong amphibious operation from an army point of view may have been a problem from the naval chief of staff’s point of view. All military factors had to be considered. Of course, the political circumstances then had to be considered by the Heads of State.


The Chiefs of Staff then had to decide if they were feasible from a manufacturing point of view; could they build the weapons and make the supplies needed? Then they had to consider what were usually the most difficult questions; how to get the men and equipment to the theatre of war and then how to get them into contact with the enemy. That involved consultations with a host of experts covering shipping, manufacturing and munitions.


During the final year of the war, the need for new military strategies waned but the need for political solutions increased and a Committee of Foreign Ministers of the three nations was formed to deal with them. The Foreign Ministers often had preliminary discussions on political matters, deciding areas of agreement and disagreement before they were referred to the Heads of State. In turn, the Foreign Ministers were sometimes called upon to look at new solutions raised by the Heads of State. The Foreign Ministers then set up subcommittees to investigate particular problems. One in particular was the Economic Subcommittee, which investigated the economic impact of decisions on a Europe in turmoil.


In case you are wondering what the editing of the raw material involved, it entailed several processes. A lot of procedural matter, which was necessary during the conferences but is irrelevant 70 years later, was removed. Items would sometimes be discussed but the only agreement made was to talk about it another day, the second discussion would then repeat the first before moving on. In such cases the original discussion is omitted while references to it are made in the footnotes.


The original text was written in the present tense and while it was relevant at the time, the conferences and events happened a long time ago and the text reads much better in the past tense. A lot of the text was also written in the passive form and changing it to the active form simplified and shortened sentences, making them clearer without changing the facts.


Altogether the editing process reduced the length of the text by about a third, without removing any relevant discussions. I hope it has clarified what are world-changing discussions between some of history’s most interesting leaders. The plan was to concentrate on the facts, bringing out the important information, so the reader can understand the significance of the conferences.


Finally, the footnotes explain who people are, what codenames mean and what events are being discussed. They give background information to discussions if needed and facts and figures to illustrate the importance of the conversations. They also detail the outcome of decisions made, giving the reader the benefit of hindsight, something the men around the table did not have.


In the course of editing and researching this book I discovered far more about the Second World War and the establishment of the postwar world than I ever thought possible. It has been an enjoyable and thought provoking journey. I hope the reader enjoys the same journey of discovery.




The Arcadia Conference, 23 December 1941–14 January 1942


By December 1941 the war in Europe had been fought for two years. Germany invaded Poland on 1 September 1939 and two days later Great Britain and France declared war. Poland soon capitulated and a period known as the Phoney War followed, as Germany gathered its troops for an attack on France. It came on 10 May 1940 and in less than a month the shattered British Expeditionary Force was rescued from Dunkirk. An armistice was brokered between France and Germany on 22 June and the country was divided into occupied territories and Vichy France.


Great Britain was next but after the Luftwaffe failed to beat the Royal Air Force in the Battle of Britain, Nazi Germany turned its attention to the east. Elsewhere, the Italians invaded British-controlled Egypt in September 1940 and Greece in October. However, the Italians met their match in North Africa and the German Afrika Korps were sent to help in February 1941.


Germany, Italy, Hungary and Bulgaria dismembered Yugoslavia in the spring of 1941. The focus of the war changed when the Axis forces invaded the Soviet Union on 22 June 1941. The Red Army was severely mauled over the next six months but on 6 December it struck back at the gates of Moscow. The following day, Japanese planes attacked Pearl Harbor and the Philippines. Over the days that followed Germany and Italy declared war on the United States turning the European war into a global war.


On 14 December 1941 the Prime Minister and the British Chiefs of Staff sailed for the United States on HMS Duke of York. Four days later, several US War Department planners began working on a five-point agenda suggested by the British Chiefs of Staff:


a)   Agreeing a basis for a joint strategy.


b)   Immediate military measures and redistribution of forces to implement the joint strategy.


c)   The allocation of forces to carry out the joint strategy.


d)   A long-term programme for carrying out the strategy, including agreement on the forces to be trained and the equipment to be built.


e)   The setting-up of joint committees and boards to implement the distribution, allocation and raising of troops, and the equipment they required, to implement the strategy.


Churchill and his Chiefs of Staff arrived in Washington on 22 December and they immediately started talking. The first formal meeting with the Chiefs of Staff took place the following day, with the second on 26 December. The Chiefs of Staff kept busy while the Prime Minister visited the Canadian Prime Minister in Ottawa and they had plenty of answers during the next two meetings on 1 and 4 January. The Prime Minister then rested in Florida for several days. There were two more meetings with the President and the Chiefs of Staff on 12 and 14 January.


The two heads of state were supported by Harry Lloyd Hopkins and Lord Beaverbrook; the Secretary of War and the Secretary of the Navy sometimes attended. The meetings gave the US Chiefs of Staff the opportunity to explain their reactions to the Japanese attacks. The meetings concluded with the President and the Prime Minister confirming their military decisions with a review of the conclusions of the Chiefs of Staff.


First Arcadia Meeting, 23 December 19411



The President2 had discussed general questions with the Prime Minister the previous night.3 They had covered the initial situation, the present status, and relations with the Vichy Government4 and with Portugal;5 but no army and navy details had been considered. A declaration had been prepared covering their joint intentions and the point that no one power would make peace without an agreement with the associated powers. He noted his statement regarding the North Atlantic ferrying problem and the protection of the British Isles:


1)   The presence of a small number of American bombers in England would have an important effect on the French people and on Germany.


2)   The next thing was to have three American divisions take over defences in the North Atlantic.


3)   A mixed command in Iceland was a disadvantage and they should be regulated.6


Roosevelt and Churchill discussed the relative importance of the Azores versus the Cape Verde Islands.7 They agreed it would be a mistake to send American troops into the Near East at this time. They also thought it was important to keep a flying route open across Africa, referring to the Brazilian situation8 and the threat from Dakar.


Roosevelt said England would hold Singapore in the Southwest Pacific9 while the United States would build up in Australia towards operations to the north, including the Philippines.10 In China they were endeavouring to effect arrangements to utilize Chinese territory for air operations against Japan. Roosevelt felt no attack on Japan was indicated now and would not be probable before March or April, unless Japan attacked Russia. Diplomatic representatives in Switzerland reported the Germans were planning an attack on the Spanish mainland on 27 December. Other sources of information did not indicate this.


Roosevelt then discussed the importance of Dakar,11 with reference to the deficiencies in shipping, the lack of anti-aircraft ammunition and planes. He said the transports now being used by British troops (approaching Bombay) were to be used for what was most important at the time, British or American. He was not in favour of converting transports into airplane carriers.


Roosevelt then mentioned several questions which had been raised:


1)   Were they to put PBY naval planes12 in Ireland?


2)   Could they induce South Ireland to make naval bases available?13


3)   How soon could the commercial airlines take over the transportation to Foynes?14


Roosevelt said there was no reason to transfer North American flag ships to the British flag for Atlantic runs under the Lend-Lease.15 Admiral Stark16 wanted more time to consider this because of the scarcity of trained crews. The general question of supply and additions to munitions production were to be considered in one or two days by Lord Beaverbrook,17 Knudsen,18 and others. As an example of increases, he mentioned the doubling of plane production. He specifically mentioned planes, tanks, antiaircraft material and ammunition. He thought the overall estimate should carry on into 1944.


Churchill voiced his appreciation of Stimson’s19 statement and said the preservation of North Atlantic communications with the British Isles fully justified their trip, if nothing else. He referred to the Unites States’ appreciation of the British present situation and their desire to help them in the Pacific and expected his Staff to be kept informed. He was very impressed by the American attitude during the immediate crisis, planning ahead in years instead of weeks.


Churchill said they were short of manpower and agreed with the proposal to replace the three British divisions in Ireland20 with American divisions. He thought they should hold better trained American divisions for other tasks as it was unlikely they would be actively employed, so they could continue training. Their presence would have an excellent effect in many directions and he was highly pleased with the American willingness to go ahead with the relief.21 He and Beaverbrook said they could furnish the Americans with anti-aircraft weapons. The tonnage issue was not elaborated on. Churchill wanted the Americans to take over Iceland, merely leaving airfields and shipping facilities sufficient for them to protect the northwest approaches.





North Africa


Roosevelt felt matters in North Africa were coming to a head quickly. French minds were fomenting over the United States entry into the war and the reverse in Russia.22 Supposing the British pushed beyond Cyrenaica23 to the frontier of Tunis in a month or six weeks, the situation would be ‘pregnant’.24 How would the Germans get into North Africa? Maybe that was the moment when the French or African people would not accede to the German demands. That was the moment for the British and the Americans.


Churchill said the British had 55,000 men with transports ready for shipment for such a purpose and they could be in Africa in 23 days. Two or three air squadrons from Malta25 could also proceed to Bizerte.26 Assuming French agreement, United States forces should land on the Moroccan coast by invitation at the same time. They could promise supplies, the assurance France’s future would be protected at the peace table and conversely, she could be ignored entirely in the peace settlement.


Roosevelt commented on an expedition against Agadir and Casablanca.27 Churchill said Spain28 should not be irritated if possible. Assuming an invitation from the French, possibly the American expedition should move first but the British were ready to go into it abreast, or to follow, as might be deemed advisable in relation to French reaction. Their expedition was ready and he asked for it to be studied. Roosevelt agreed.


Roosevelt commented on the use of colonial troops against Dakar. It was very important to morale as it would give his country a feeling they were in the war; it would put American troops in active fighting across the Atlantic. Churchill agreed and said it was not wise to send American troops into the Middle East, it was better to deploy Indian Army and Australian troops there.29 He also wanted to consider the question of landing troops in Norway in 1943.


The Secretary of War30 spoke of the importance of timing the movements into Ireland and the Mediterranean, with relation to its effect on the French people. The American movement into Ireland would have a very definite effect on the French mind, facilitating a British and French movement into Tunis and Morocco. Churchill said the Mediterranean issue might arise at any moment.





Pacific


Churchill wanted his staff officers to have a full view of the situation in the Philippines, Hawaii and the West Coast.31 Roosevelt interrupted to comment on the decentralization of aircraft plants.32 Churchill offered Beaverbrook’s services to show how to move them without interfering seriously with production.


Churchill said his staff felt Hawaii need not be a fleet base; it could be approached from so many directions that it should be supplied. It appeared it could be defended.33 The United States had the greatest need in this emergency and required the supplies at the moment.


Churchill understood two new battleships would be ready in May and Admiral King34 confirmed some time in March. Admiral Stark said there would be three and possibly four more battleships this year. Churchill continued, “We will do our best to look out for the Atlantic so far as battleships are concerned” and commented on the conditions of certain battleships. The King George V35 and another very good one he had missed, the Renown36; the Nelson37 had recently been torpedoed but it would be ready for action in February; and the Rodney.38 He spoke of the Anson39 being ready for service in May and another one later. Churchill said they might be able to help the United States restore superiority in the Pacific. While they wanted United States destroyers for Atlantic convoy duty, the distribution of battleships was open.





Syria and Persia


Churchill thought Hitler might feint at Russia in the spring and then thrust out in the southeast.40 They would probably be able to hold the Nile Valley and they now felt more secure because of improved conditions. Storms could come again but it would be a tremendous disaster to give up the Suez Canal; Turkey would go and Africa would be overrun. Churchill was not asking America to do anything in the region except furnish supplies and build up bases. They were making no request for an American presence in the Near East.41 They hoped to have four armoured divisions, the 1st, 2nd, 7th and one other available there.


To sum up, Churchill said there were the questions of Iceland, Ireland, French North Africa and the holding of forces available for operations against small islands. He spoke of an in and out expedition against Dakar, leaving other troops to hold the place.42 In the Far East, he spoke of possible retirement towards Johore and fighting there.43 Singapore had to hold out. It ought to be a matter of six months before the Japanese could close in.44


The Burma Province45 had been reinforced a fortnight earlier. 17th Indian Division, a very good division, was en route to Burma.46 Wavell47 was in command, having released Iran and Iraq to Auchinleck.48 18th Division was routed for Bombay and Ceylon in a convoy on American ships.49 It might be possible for the Australians to move their troops closer to the theatre but it would take considerable tonnage. They would do their best to keep the Burma Road open.50 Churchill said the Indian Army had twelve divisions. Churchill and Beaverbrook mentioned they had 25-pounders and other guns with ammunition the Americans could use in Ireland, however, they could not help them with rifles.51


24 December





First Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


The defence of the British Isles; the relief of British troops in Northern Ireland and Iceland; Greenland; the U-boat war; Naval Dispositions in the Atlantic; Guns for merchant ships; Deployment of heavy bombers; PBYs for the British;52 Airplane carriers; The Portuguese and Spanish Islands in the Atlantic; British crews for American ships; West African Situation; the occupation of Africa; Brazil and the Curaçao-Aruba area; The Russian Situation; Spain and Portugal; Priorities in Expeditions; Troops for an attack on the Continent; The Bombardment of Japan.


25 December






Second Chiefs of Staff Meeting53



The program of planning; Unified Command; Disposition of USS Mount Vernon (AP22); A Diversion of Reinforcements; Forces destined for the Far East; Priorities for Expeditions in the Atlantic; The Northwest African Project.





Roosevelt Meeting with his Chiefs of Staff


Although there is no record of the discussion Stimson recorded his feelings in his diary. Generals Marshall, Eisenhower and Arnold visited Stimson with a rather astonishing memorandum from the White House, concerning a meeting between Churchill and the President.54 Roosevelt proposed to turn over reinforcements destined for MacArthur to the British.55 The paper made Stimson extremely angry and he called Hopkins to say the President would have to accept his resignation if he persisted.


Hopkins thought it was very improper to discuss the matter of reinforcements with another nation while the fighting was going on. He was surprised and shocked by Stimson’s reaction and spoke to the President in the presence of Churchill about the matter; they both denied any such propositions had been made. Hopkins called Stimson back and he read out the paper, which bore out his view.


Stimson met Marshall and Arnold, Secretary Knox, Admirals King and Stark, and Hopkins at the White House. After Roosevelt’s had discussed reports and the campaign in the Far East, he “incidentally and as if by aside, flung out the remark that a paper had been going around which was nonsense and which entirely misrepresented a conference between him and Churchill.” Stimson did not reply because the President had given up, if he had ever entertained, the idea of discussing the surrender of MacArthur’s reinforcements.


“This incident shows the danger of talking too freely in international matters of such keen importance without the President having his military and naval advisors present. This paper, which was a record made by one of Churchill’s assistants, would have raised any amount of trouble for the President if it had gotten into the hands of an unfriendly press. I think he felt he had nearly burned his fingers and had called the subsequent meeting to make up for it. Hopkins told me when I talked with him over the telephone that he had told the President to be more careful about the formality of his discussions with Churchill.”56


26 December





The President met Lord Beaverbrook


The British asked the United States for ships, planes, ordnance and tanks.


26 December: Second Arcadia Meeting





Tonnage


Field Marshal Dill57 reviewed the proposition of sending troops to North Africa, it was at a hypothetical stage and it depended on an invitation. There were studies of the forces required but the biggest problem was tonnage. Roosevelt asked if the convoys going to Great Britain would be impaired if the operation was undertaken. Marshall understood they would not.


Both the British and Americans were in agreement on the general plan and details were being worked out by a Joint Planning Committee. The tonnage situation meant they could not proceed with the North African Expedition58 and relieve British units both in Iceland and Ireland at the same time. One question was how large a force was needed to appeal to the French to help the occupation and that was a political matter for the President and the Prime Minister to decide. Even so, the shipping should be collected and made ready for contingent use.


Roosevelt said the time for the movement was not ripe but it might be at any moment, or in three months time. They had to consider collecting transports for the movement of troops to Northern Ireland and the tonnage could be diverted to the North African move if necessary. General Marshall said this would be feasible. Churchill said the North African Expedition would have to be carried through if started, while the Ireland Expedition could be interrupted at any time without difficulty.


Churchill placed tremendous importance on the Ireland and Iceland reliefs, the French African Expedition and the situation in the Far East. He approved them all but the question was, how could they all be fitted in? The relief of Northern Ireland could be fitted in at any time. He recalled how two million men were shipped to France in a comparatively short time in the First World War.59 What had become of the ships they used then? He was reluctant to take no for an answer because of shipping and asked why it was the bottleneck. Shipping could be obtained if they tried harder – he would be frightfully unhappy if he had to choose between expeditions. He also thought there was no possibility of an invasion of Great Britain before April.60


Roosevelt said they involved the State Department when it came to additional shipping. They had three large ships plying back and forth between North and South America61 but they had not been considered for troop transportation because of the ‘Good Will’ feature.62 They could utilize them, plus three other Grace Line boats if they had to.63 Admiral Turner64 said large ships could not go into certain Irish ports or Casablanca. Churchill replied that as far as Ireland was concerned, they could go into the Clyde and the troops could be moved across.65


Roosevelt said Admiral Turner66 should discuss turning over the South American ships to the State Department if it meant delaying moving troops to Ireland. Churchill said two million troops were moved in five months during ‘the World War’ while the present plan only called for the movement of ¼ million men in three months; he did not feel it was too great a problem to be solved. The Secretary of War67 understood the movement of troops to Ireland was merely a passage of personnel and they would not require all their combat equipment.68


Lord Beaverbrook said the British were turning out ten cargo class ships each month while the conversion of five armed merchant ships to cruisers could be stopped. There was also the possibility of utilizing some large ships, such as the Queen Mary or even the Queen Elizabeth.69


Churchill said one solution might be to use a large battleship to carry troops. 10,000 men could be transported in a vessel moving at a speed of 25 knots. The only danger was it would be a large number of eggs in one basket and difficult to provide adequate protection for the battleship during part of its trip.70 Roosevelt thought they might be able to dig up more ships in some way and gave instructions to consult Admiral Land71 and Captain Vickery72 of the Maritime Commission.


Roosevelt suggested sending small groups of men, possibly 50 to a boat, on the convoys carrying food and raw materials continuously back and forth between the United States and Britain. A 40-ship convoy could carry 2000 men.


Churchill asked if Marshall had looked into the artillery matter and he said they intended to send several key men who would be introduced to the British equipment. These cadres would be followed by personnel who would take over the equipment.


Churchill asked if rationing had been looked into. Marshall said it was still being studied. It was feasible to standardize some things but not all, since the Americans were strongly antagonistic to ‘plum and apple’ and not enthusiastic over British tea. Their World War experience had been both amusing and disturbing. Churchill was very anxious to get the American troops into Northern Ireland.





The Far East


Roosevelt asked if everything was being done to get troops and planes to the Far East and Marshall said it was. There had been some delay in the movement of the Kitty Hawk73 but planes and personnel could to be moved as fast as ships could take them.74 Roosevelt asked if the unity of command had been solved because it was most desirable, since there were four forces involved in the Far East.75 Marshall had raised the matter the day before. Roosevelt wanted it considered because he did not think they were getting the most out of the forces in the Far East.


Churchill said in some cases the troops were separated by 1000 miles and it was necessary for the person on the spot to play his own hand because a commanding officer could not be a true commander if he was so far away. He thought the disposition of forces should be taken care of in Washington, the clearing and disposing house. Churchill believed unity of command was all right where there was a continuous line of battle, such as existed in France in the First World War, but the situation in the Far East was not the same. Command would be best exercised from Washington.


Roosevelt said reports from the Far East were very sketchy. His idea was for the commander to have his headquarters in a plane and to go from place to place. Churchill wanted to discuss the matter with Roosevelt. He also said the British were very happy that the United States considered Germany to be the Number One enemy.76


Roosevelt said they were not getting good information from the Far East and asked if the naval commanders were working together. Admiral King said they were working in the sphere of action previously arranged. The Dutch and British were generally in the Singapore area while the United States forces were farther to the East. Churchill thought Admiral Phillips had worked out an agreement prior to his death.77 Roosevelt asked if the Dutch had a good man in command of their forces. Marshal Dill replied there had been a recent change but he understood the new man was good.78


Admiral Pound79 said Admiral Layton80 reported cooperation between naval forces had weakened since the outbreak of war and he thought it could be improved. The Secretary of the Navy81 said Churchill’s belief that a scattered command was an argument against unity of command, was wrong. This scattered condition was an argument for it.


Roosevelt said after the Japanese invaded Borneo, the Dutch and United States elements might attain success if they worked together; if they worked individually it would be impossible.82 The Secretary of the Navy believed there should be one commander, working under a directive from Washington. The President said it was well worth studying. The conference adjourned.83


27 December





General Meetings


Churchill met General Marshall met to discuss Unified Command and the Far East situation.


Roosevelt met Secretary of War Stimson, General Marshall and Lieutenant General Arnold.


Secretary Hull met Prime Minister Mackenzie King.


Roosevelt and Churchill met Maxim Litvinov.84


Roosevelt and Churchill met the chiefs of various diplomatic missions.


Roosevelt and Churchill met the Latin American Chiefs of Mission.


Roosevelt met Maxim Litvinov a second time.





Third Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


Priorities for expeditions in the Atlantic; the Northwest African Project; American-British Strategy; Unity of command; US transports in the Indian Ocean.


29 December


Roosevelt met ex-Dutch Minister Loudon.85 US Supply ministers met Lord Beaverbrook.





Fourth Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


Priorities for expeditions in the Atlantic; Northwest African Project; American-British Strategy; Reinforcements in the Southwest Pacific; Unity of Command in the Southwest Pacific; Communication with General Chiang Kai-shek.


30 December





Fifth Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


Direction in the ABDA area; Directive to the commander in the ABDA area.


31 December





Sixth Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


Withdrawal of US Marines from Iceland; US troops to Northern Ireland; American-British Strategy; Northwest African Project; Naval dispositions; Reinforcements for the southwest Pacific; Directive to the commander in the ABDA area.


1 January 1942: Third Arcadia Meeting


Roosevelt and Churchill met Litvinov. The President and the Prime Minister approved the directive to the Supreme Commander in the Far East.86 There was a discussion about Burma’s place in the war theatres. The propositions were:


1)   Burma as part of the Indian Command.


2)   Burma as part of Chiang Kai-shek’s Theatre.87


3)   Burma as part of the ABDA Theatre.88


4)   Burma as an independent command.


Burma as part of the Indian Theatre would be impossible while Burma could not be a part of Chiang Kai-shek’s command. Burma as an independent command would gum up the works for everybody, so there was only one other solution – to make Burma a part of Wavell’s ABDA theatre, which was done. Roosevelt then OK’d the directive to the Supreme Command.


Churchill raised the question of the application of the ABDA agreement to the entire war. The powers of primary interest were the British and the United States because they controlled the sea. They supplied most of the weapons of war such as airplanes and munitions for ground forces. While Russia was doing a masterful job, their activities were in one theatre only, making them a secondary power rather than a primary power.


Churchill then asked about the dividing line between the operations directed from the west coast of the United States and the eastern operations directed from Australia.89 He also asked about the dividing line between the Australian and New Zealand operations in the Fiji Islands.90 Some provision had been made to take care of the area between the ABDA, Australia and New Zealand areas. Admiral King thought the Australian and the New Zealand Navies might take care of the triangle but the matter had to be considered.91


Roosevelt thought the French Fleet at Alexandria would probably prefer to be transferred to the United States rather than the British Flag.92 Churchill replied the ships were not in very good repair and he preferred to keep them in cold storage in Alexandria. The only ammunition was in the holds of the ships and they had no repair parts. Roosevelt thought they ought to take them over if they wanted to come into the war. Admiral Pound said the French Admiral was loyal to Vichy and had made plans to scuttle his fleet and rebel against orders. Churchill had no objection if they wanted to move to the United States of their own free will.


Roosevelt then read a telegram from Bullitt93 and Lyttelton94 covering the invasion of Tunisia:95


1)   French resistance was certain.


2)   It would be impossible to get supplies in North Africa if the French in Morocco were hostile.


3)   It was certain the Germans would send air units against any invasion troops.


4)   The operation could not be a success unless the US movement into North Africa was simultaneous with the British invasion of Tunisia.


5)   They believed there would be resistance against the US invasion unless French leaders were brought into the plan.


They recommended


1)   Reinforcing the British in the Near East.


2)   The United States to start action to create a force for Casablanca operations at once.


3)   Start the necessary propaganda machinery to secure as much aid as possible in all countries prior to the invasion.


4)   Provide for the taking over of the Canaries and the Azores.


Churchill said it was not necessary to take over the Canaries96 and the Azores first but it was remarkable these two men, quite independent from the rest of them, agreed in principle with the British. Roosevelt said they had to consider the case while Churchill was in Washington.


It was agreed to make plans and start the movement of troops to North Africa and towards replacing the Marines in Iceland at once.97


Signing the Declaration by the United Nations, January 1, 1942


Roosevelt devised the name United Nations in December 1941 and the Declaration was agreed by 26 governments.98 The text affirmed the signatories’ perspective “that complete victory over their enemies is essential to defend life, liberty, independence and religious freedom, and to preserve human rights and justice in their own lands as well as in other lands and they were now engaged in a common struggle against savage and brutal forces seeking to subjugate the world.”


Roosevelt, Churchill, Soong99 and Litvinov100 signed the declaration together. Hopkins101 signed it later.


2 January


Roosevelt and Churchill met their shipping advisors.


3 January


Roosevelt and Churchill met their war production advisors.


4 January: Fourth Arcadia Meeting


Roosevelt and Churchill met General Arnold,102 commander of the US Army Air Forces. Roosevelt said there were one or two matters he wanted clarifying because certain Army-Navy actions depended on political considerations. Firstly, what would happen to the French, both in France and in West and North Africa? Plans also had to be prepared for any situation which might arise. The second consideration was the Brazil situation – at the present time they could do no more than guess – but it was of great importance to keep their lines of communication with Europe open.103 Thirdly, they had to be prepared to take Army-Navy action if there were no additional developments in either area and the situation appeared to be working in their direction.


They had to work on the basis that the Ireland and Iceland expeditions were ready to proceed without delay, but in such a way they could be halted if other considerations intervened. They could not make a decision about Africa and Brazil but they had to be ready to take proper action if both situations blew up in their faces. They also had to be ready if nothing happened in either. The Secretary of War104 was correct in saying they could take no chances on the possibility of their first major expedition being a failure. If the risk looked great, they had to think twice before they went ahead.105





Relief of British Troops in Northern Ireland


Stimson said the expedition to Northern Ireland had been agreed upon and the sailing date had been set. The question was, were the British ready for them? Field Marshal Dill said he would see all arrangements were made to receive the American troops. Stimson wanted to be certain they would not have to ‘roost on the rocks’ when they arrived. Churchill said the British would take full responsibility for accommodating them when they arrived. The three divisions being relieved could be moved to England and it was of tremendous importance to begin this movement at once.


Roosevelt asked how many American planes were being sent to Northern Ireland. General Arnold replied, “Two pursuit groups; about 160 planes.” Roosevelt asked if the British were going to withdraw their planes from Northern Ireland. Air Marshal Portal106 replied they had none there. The presence of American planes in Ireland would be of great assistance to the British because they would not have to dispatch planes to Ireland if it was invaded.107 He added accommodation would be provided for the air units.





GYMNAST


It was agreed the British plans for the occupation of Northwest Africa would be known as GYMNAST, while British plans with American participation would be known as SUPER-GYMNAST.108 Stimson said the Army representatives had just met the Navy but the situation depended on political considerations:


1)   Would the French invite them to land?


2)   Would the Spanish be able to delay a German invasion of the Iberian Peninsula long enough to permit the occupation to be completed?


Roosevelt discounted any idea that the Spanish would offer opposition to the Germans.109


Stimson stated:


1)   The crucial matter was whether the American-British forces could establish a canopy of air protection until the landing was completed.


2)   This meant the employment of considerable carrier forces; a matter still under discussion.


3)   He was concerned the Germans could quickly establish themselves in the Iberian Peninsula and from there employ a dangerous force against the operation.


4)   The Germans were already on the ground.110


5)   The Germans had considerable knowledge of the situation in Africa.


6)   They needed a fifth column111 in the North African area.


7)   The chances of the plan being a success would fade as time went on.


Roosevelt stated:


1)   If the Germans moved in immediately, it would take them as long to complete the occupation as it would the Allied troops.


2)   The Germans would have the same problems as they had.


3)   He did not think they could stand idly by and permit them to become established.


Churchill said it had not taken the Japanese four months to get ashore in Luzon.112 Admiral Turner replied Casablanca was the only suitable port and it was small; it would take each convoy two weeks to unload. There were other small ports along the coast but they could only furnish air protection for one of them. Churchill said opposition would undoubtedly be small if they could complete the movement in one month but they would be blasted out if it took four months.


Stimson said only one port was available; the force would have to land from an open roadstead elsewhere.113 But he could not understand why it would take four months, even if the British were landing at Algiers, not at Casablanca.114 Roosevelt asked if the Rio de Oro had been investigated.115 Admiral Turner replied communications were very bad there and it involved a movement over 700 or 800 miles of desert road.


Churchill said the unloading time would have to be reduced if carriers were involved. If not, the Germans could assemble a strong U-boat concentration, and they could not afford to lose carriers at this time. Stimson said the carriers would be moving out without delay and two possibilities were being studied. One was to carry assembled army planes on the carriers, and the other was to use navy planes.116


Admiral Turner said carriers could not remain more than ten days in the Casablanca area and he believed two plans were possible. The first was to carry army planes and have them fly off the carrier and immediately establish themselves on landing fields adjacent to Casablanca. This plan did not appear to be feasible because the navy planes had to furnish the initial air canopy while the airfields were being established. They could then return to the carriers, something the army planes could not do. The army planes could land on the airfields once they had been established.117


Admiral King proposed using three carriers; one to carry navy fighters, the other army fighters, and the third, heavy army bombers. While the navy fighters were furnishing the canopy, the army bombers would carry supplies, such as gasoline, bombs, etc., to the airfields where they intended to base the army fighters. This would avoid a delay in moving supplies to these airfields. He thought it could be done in three weeks and then the carriers could move out.


Stimson said it had been of vital importance to have several dispersed fields in the Philippines,118 while the basic necessity was to immediately establish a canopy of air protection as soon as the operation started. Churchill said the first wave should be accommodated in two or three days. Even if the Germans heard about the movement, it would take them at least ten days to move supplies and get ready for an attack from Spain.


Stimson asked how many ships could unload at Casablanca at once. Admiral Turner replied not more than ten or twelve. The first convoy would have 22 or 23 ships and it would take two weeks for each convoy to unload. While the Americans thought it could be done in ten days, the British believed two weeks. Roosevelt asked if it could unload in one week instead of two, if ordered to. Admiral Turner replied two weeks was the best estimate they could make.


Roosevelt said two weeks to completely unload one convoy seemed awfully slow for people who were in a hurry. Churchill suggested practising the landing at some place similar to the anticipated conditions to determine how long it would actually take. The general plans could go forward while this was being done. Marshall said amphibious exercises were being undertaken at the present time.119 Roosevelt asked how long had it taken to unload and Admiral King replied 48 hours to unload 12,000 men without their heavy equipment.


Stimson quoted ‘Hap’ Arnold as saying German fighters could not operate over Casablanca from bases in Spain. Colonel Donovan’s120 organization was also attempting to get detailed information on the Casablanca area. Roosevelt said he, Churchill and the two Staffs knew very little about the region, while the possibility of the Germans moving into the area first had not been discussed.


Stimson could not understand the lack of military intelligence concerning this area. Admiral Turner said the Joint Planning Committee had a mass of information available, but certain factors could only be obtained by inspecting the ground.121 Stimson said the essential points should be boiled down to whether it would be possible to get and then keep air control, and whether it would be possible to land and disperse on fields around Casablanca. Roosevelt asked about the sea conditions and Admiral Turner replied there was large surf with a heavy roll at that time of the year.


Roosevelt said while an invitation was in the lap of the gods,122 they had to have the transports ready to sail within one week after it was received.123 Marshal Dill said if they did, it would hold up transportation needed for other purposes. Admiral King said they could hold the ships in readiness.


Marshall said the present plans contemplated the Ireland relief expedition sailing on 15 January. If they wanted to initiate SUPER-GYMNAST and the convoy had already sailed, it would require three or four weeks to get it back. Meanwhile, an effort would be made to figure out every possible way to put across the North Africa expedition. Everyone agreed on the strategic importance of the expedition and they had to push for information and explore all possibilities.


Churchill attached tremendous importance to the 15 January movement because it would be a morale boost to the British to have American troops move into Ireland. He suggested the planners push ahead with their plans for SUPER-GYMNAST but not to divert shipping from the Ireland relief; they should not take real ships from real jobs. They could talk about the matter again in a few days. Admiral Pound said if the Ireland relief was undertaken, there would not be enough ships for SUPER-GYMNAST.


Churchill asked if some of the fast, large ships allocated for MAGNET124 could sail unescorted. Admiral Pound agreed the risks were not too heavy, but the price was frightful if the ship was sunk. Admiral King believed a fast ship moving unescorted had a better chance of reaching its destination than slow moving convoys.


Stimson then made the following summary. Assuming the MAGNET force went ahead as planned, they should try and get 22 or 23 ships for the first convoy of SUPER-GYMNAST. If it became feasible to put SUPER-GYMNAST into operation, the MAGNET force would not be interfered with. The first expedition on SUPER-GYMNAST would consist of certain Marine and Air Corps units but would not contain armoured forces. Even if the British made a landing at Algiers, some armoured forces should be provided for the first SUPER-GYMNAST convoy.


Admiral Turner thought they could get enough ships for the first SUPER-GYMNAST convoy but they could not dispatch the second SUPER-GYMNAST convoy until the MAGNET ships returned. Churchill replied under no circumstances should they delay MAGNET. Admiral Pound said the Queen Mary would be ready in a week, while the Queen Elizabeth, the Aquitania and the Normandie would also be available.125 Admiral King suggested sending a token force on the Queen Mary while leaving the other ships to wait on events. Admiral Turner replied they were all set for 21,000 men to sail to Ireland on 15 January.


Marshall said the troops were ready to go as fast as the ships were ready to carry them. Roosevelt said they could transport 6000 men on the Queen Mary for MAGNET and use the rest of the available space for cargo but the matter needed further study. He also asked for more information regarding Northwest Africa. Churchill then asked “Then you rule the Queen Mary can be used for this transportation?” The President agreed.


Admiral Pound asked if additional use could be made of American ships that had been turned over to the British for convoys from the Middle East to the Far East. Admiral King said the British could make emergency use of these ships. Admiral Stark said he would talk to Admiral Pound about the matter. The meeting adjourned.


10 January





Seventh Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


Operation GYMNAST; Directive to commander of ABDA area; General Wavell taking command of ABDA; Immediate assistance to China; Post Arcadia collaboration.


11 January





Eighth Chiefs of Staff Meeting


Command and situation in the ABDA area; Port Darwin in the ABDA area; Defence of the island bases between Hawaii and Australia; US forces in Northern Ireland.


11 January


Roosevelt and Churchill met their war production advisors.


12 January





Ninth Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


Shipping for reinforcing the Far East; Defence of the island bases between Hawaii and Australia.


12 January: Fifth Arcadia Meeting





SUPER-GYMNAST


Churchill understood the Staff had produced a timetable which had been approved in principle. However, it looked as if Rommel126 might get away but there would be a determined chase if he was defeated.127 The British were getting a new armoured brigade into the Near East and there would be a battle soon but information had been received about a convoy arriving at Tripoli with additional German materiel. It was possible the date the Germans would be pushed back to Tripoli would be delayed, but it gave more time for the completion of SUPER-GYMNAST.


Roosevelt said there was more time available politically and there was a tendency on the part of Vichy128 to say no to German demands. He had reports about a growing number of French Army officers asking whether their overtures would be accepted if they did something. Admiral Darlan129 had asked if he would be accepted into a conference and the answer had been, not under the present circumstances, but the situation would change if he brought the French Fleet over to the Allies.


However, more time existed for SUPER-GYMNAST and it was desirable to get a settled timetable that fitted into the negotiation timetable. The Germans would know as soon as the negotiations commenced and they should have the Army aboard ships ready to land in a week or ten days.130


Roosevelt then asked about transports. Marshall said the Staffs had reached a tentative agreement about the reduction of the schedule of troops to Northern Ireland the night before. They had also agreed a reduction of cargo ships available for the expedition, which brought up the question of quarters and supplies for the troops. Churchill said there was no question about the quarters; one British Division was being moved out of Northern Ireland and the British would have quarters ready for the American troops.


Marshall briefly explained the substance of the Joint Chiefs of Staff plan as follows: 21,800 American troops would sail from the East Coast on 20 January, set to arrive in the ABDA area around 14 February. The convoy would consist of 10,000 ground troops for New Caledonia, which, with the artillery brigade now in Australia, would furnish approximately a division for New Caledonia.131 The remainder of the expedition would consist of engineers and other ground service troops for the bombers now arriving in the ABDA area. Also moving out were 20 cargo ships carrying 250 pursuit planes, 86 medium bombers, 57 light bombers, 220 ship tons of cargo, and 4½ million gallons of gasoline. The aircraft were to replace attrition.


Marshall said the following changes had to be made to permit the expedition to depart. The troops scheduled for Iceland on 15 January would be reduced to 2500 in the first MAGNET convoy; the 16,000 scheduled for Ireland would be reduced to 4000. The Queen Mary could carry 7000 troops to Ireland on 1 February and then transport whatever British troops were desired to the Middle East. Three navy transports132 being used to transport troops from the Middle East to the Far East via the Suez Canal would be available to move British troops over the same route. In addition, 4400 more troops could be moved to Ireland on the George Washington133 early in February. This procedure would result in approximately 24,000 troops being in Ireland by 25 February. However, the plan entailed the following:


1)   Cancellation of the arranged movements to Ireland and Iceland.


2)   Confusion in the port of New York, due to the necessity of unloading ships.


3)   The utilization of the Kungsholm, which was being held for the State Department.134


4)   Difficulties in crating the medium bombers scheduled for the ABDA convoy.


5)   Two vessels needed on the South American route


6)   The loan of three British ships.


Roosevelt asked about refuelling the ABDA convoy and Admiral King replied it would not be necessary en route. Marshall said another serious consideration was that the ABDA convoy resulted in a 30% reduction of lend-lease135 to Russia for four months and a reduction of lend-lease materiel going to Basra.136 Roosevelt said the plan sounded good.


Churchill asked how the Queen Elizabeth and the Aquitania were going to be used.137 Marshall replied the Queen Elizabeth was being used for a third convoy to the Far East, involving the movement of three anti-aircraft regiments. The following troops were also being moved from the West Coast; 7000 on 12 January; 14,000 on 30 January and 11,000 early in February. It was understood the Aquitania would not be available until the end of February.


It would take three weeks to assemble the freight boats for the ABDA convoy and the American troops would arrive on 20 January before their equipment. This involved some complications in the convoy but it was the best arrangement they could make.


Roosevelt asked about troop accommodations in New Caledonia. Marshall said there would be little difficulty in finding shelter for the troops due to the tropical climate; they could take tents.


Churchill said the plan would result in some confusion and the delay of shipments to Russia would undoubtedly cause disappointment. He asked if the Chiefs of Staff had discussed the plan. Marshall replied they had and the Russian question had been brought up. But there was no use sending troops to the ABDA area without their equipment. If a cut became necessary, the New Caledonia increment should be eliminated. It was of urgent necessity to send air reinforcements.


Admiral Pound said the Joint Chiefs of Staff had discussed the matter. The people in London were working on a slightly different shipping schedule for the American transports to the Middle East, to the Far East, and the possible use of the Queen Mary from England to the Middle East. However, an answer could be received by noon the next day.


Roosevelt asked if the occupation of New Caledonia was off the agenda if they carried out their Russian promises. Marshall could not be sure, but if anything was to be spared, the New Caledonia occupation should be first. Hopkins138 noted 30% of the shipping to Russia involved only seven ships, and they should be able to find seven ships, even if it involved stopping the shipment of some reserve equipment to England. It should not be too difficult to locate seven ships amongst the 1200 merchant ships they had available.


Admiral King asked if Russia could absorb the shipments if Archangel139 was closed and Roosevelt replied the Russians denied it was closed. Admiral Stark said the main question was which was more important: the 30% reduction of lend-lease to Russia or immediate reinforcements for the Far East?


Churchill said the Far East and the Russians should take priority over other things and the Ireland and Iceland reliefs were secondary. He was sorry about reducing MAGNET, but he understood the need for it.


Marshall said an early decision had to be reached, so the MAGNET shipment could be delayed. General Arnold140 noted it was no use sending planes to the Far East without their ground service crews. Admiral Pound said the only immediate commitment was the unloading of the MAGNET convoy. Marshall replied if they unloaded it, they had to load the Australian convoy immediately. Churchill asked whether this matter had been taken up with the British Chiefs of Staff and Marshall replied they had worked most of the night together on it.


Roosevelt liked Marshall’s program, if only some means could be found to take care of the Russians. Hopkins did not think Marshall should be held up by the necessity for Russian lend-lease and suggested directing Admiral Land to find six or seven more ships a month for Russia.


Lord Beaverbrook141 said he would be very sorry to see ships diverted from the Atlantic because of the increased strain that would result. It was important to maintain the supply of certain items to England to keep up production schedules; but he also hated to stop the Russia shipments.


Roosevelt agreed there might be unfortunate repercussions in Russia if they let them down at the very time they were pinched, as they were at the time. He asked how important the occupation of New Caledonia was. Admiral King said the island was on the line of naval communication and a potential target for Japanese occupation.142 Roosevelt asked if it would be easy to re-conquer. King replied no island was easy to re-conquer once it had been occupied. Arnold said as far as flying routes were concerned, both New Caledonia and the Fiji Islands could be jumped if necessary.


King said the urgent question was assistance to the Far East and Churchill agreed it should come ahead of New Caledonia. Roosevelt replied that only the seven cargo ships were holding up Marshall’s plan. Hopkins asked if Marshall’s plan would be approved if Russia were not involved. They agreed it would be.


Hopkins then suggested Roosevelt and Churchill take the responsibility of reducing lend-lease materiel to Russia rather than holding up Marshall’s plan. Churchill suggested keeping the ships on the Russian run and finding other ships to make up the deficit. He asked if the Chiefs of Staff agreed on the mechanics of the plan. Admiral Pound said it had to be approved in London, because they had been working on a slightly different arrangement. Roosevelt asked Hopkins143 if he could get enough ships to take care of the Russians. Hopkins was sure it could be done if he explained the situation to Admiral Land and Salter.144 Marshall said Land had told him they were behind in furnishing materials under their present protocol agreement with Russia earlier in the day.


Churchill suggested accepting the plan and making a search for the seven ships. He also asked if the British were behind in their deliveries to the Russians and Beaverbrook replied they were in some items but he expected they would catch up. Marshall added what they were doing in the Far East would help the Russians anyway.


Churchill said there was a possibility, if Japan continued to succeed in the Far East, of a Pan-Asiatic movement including all the brown and yellow races, which might complicate the situation. He also said a symbolic landing in Ireland would be satisfactory but he hoped materiel for England would not be piled up on the docks in New York awaiting ships.


Beaverbrook said additional shipping had been scraped up for convoy movements to the ABDA area and he thought more could be found. Churchill replied the ABDA plan made no provision for SUPER-GYMNAST. Marshall said no ships arranged for combat loading were being used for ABDA.


Roosevelt asked when could they do SUPER-GYMNAST if they went ahead with the ABDA plan and found enough shipping for Russia. Churchill said the Joint Staffs had already established some planning days would be required. If 7 January was established as the beginning of planning, D-Day145 would be 4 February and the earliest arrival in Casablanca would be 23 March. Marshall replied the shortage was not in troop carriers but in cargo carriers.


Churchill said the Staffs should get data about the effect of this plan on GYMNAST. Admiral King said for purposes of a round calculation, the date which the ships could be available for GYMNAST would be determined by the turn around between the East Coast146 and Australia; approximately three months. It would set back the possible date of loading for GYMNAST to about 15 April. Admiral King also said 15,000 combat loaded troops147 could be embarked for GYMNAST without delay at any time. Churchill said the whole problem was to get planes to the Far East. Arnold agreed it was the only way to stop the Japanese advancing south. Roosevelt then said; “We approve General Marshall’s plan. We will make Beaverbrook and Hopkins find ships and we will work on SUPER-GYMNAST at the earliest possible date.”


Air Marshal Portal148 said the Chiefs of Staff had agreed the ABDA movement would not interfere with the movement of pursuit ships to the Far East. Churchill said the Staff had to check on the impact of the plan on GYMNAST and establish the earliest possible date. They also had to investigate what would be available for the expedition if an invitation arrived suddenly. The meeting adjourned.


13 January





Tenth Chiefs of Staff Meeting


Post Arcadia collaboration; Atlantic projects early in 1942; Operation SUPER-GYMNAST.


14 January





Eleventh Chiefs of Staff Meeting


Post Arcadia collaboration; Reinforcing the Far East; Operation SUPER-GYMNAST.


14 January: Sixth Arcadia Meeting


Roosevelt thought a public statement about the conference accomplishments should be issued at an appropriate time in both Great Britain and the United States.149





New Agencies for American-British Collaboration


Roosevelt was opposed to creating additional boards but it was desirable to create certain agencies to ensure a more efficient prosecution of the war. One would be a Combined Raw Materials Board, to allocate raw materials.150 Twenty-six nations were involved and he did not want the smaller nations to feel they were being left out. Lord Beaverbrook said the British had already nominated Sir Clive Baillieu151 as the British representative; Roosevelt and Hopkins had not decided on the American representative.


Roosevelt said the Board would have an appropriate sized staff to ensure efficient planning and the speediest development of raw materials. It would make recommendations to the heads of government in collaboration with the other nations. The Board would also confer with Russia and China. Admiral King asked who the Board would make recommendations to. Beaverbrook replied, “The President and the Prime Minister.”


Roosevelt said it was proposed to establish an Anglo-American Combined Shipping Adjustment Board,152 with agencies in London and Washington. The Board’s executive power would be exercised by the United States Maritime Commission,153 in coordination with the British Minister of War Transportation.154 The Board would also confer with Russia, China and other interested nations.


Roosevelt said the assignment of munitions was a primary interest and all munitions should be placed in a common pool. Marshall and Arnold believed the Board should be a subcommittee of the Joint Chiefs of Staff Committee.155 It would have a civilian chairman156 and would advise on all assignments and priorities of finished munitions.


Beaverbrook asked who would advise him on apportioning.157 Roosevelt replied it would be handled the same as the arrangements for the ABDA area while disagreements could be referred to the President and the Prime Minister. Beaverbrook asked who to speak to obtain goods for Russia. Roosevelt said the Joint Chiefs of Staff, except he would nominate a civilian chairman. The munitions subcommittee would invite comments on their allocations from representatives of the State Department and production agencies in both countries.


Beaverbrook asked where the decision would rest if he went to the British civilian chairman. Churchill said the two committees would discuss the matter through the Chiefs of Staff, although their arrangement would be different due to the difference between the British and American set-ups. Admiral Pound asked who would be the British representatives in Washington and Churchill replied they would be members of the Combined Chiefs of Staff, Hopkins as chairman.


Marshall said the Prime Minister’s suggestion was not his understanding. He understood the Munitions Allocation Committee would deal purely with munitions while its civilian chairman would report to the Joint Chiefs of Staff. It would have Army, Air and Navy representatives, plus British representatives, with Hopkins as chairman. Stimson felt it was important that Great Britain had representatives on the committee, so the economic resources of the two countries would be combined.


Stimson said the War Department had been dealing with ten or twelve buyers from foreign nations before the Lend-Lease Act was passed.158 He understood this proposed plan was one step nearer to ensuring allocations would optimize the associations with their Allies.


Hopkins said the movement of tanks and airplanes, even if they were not given to American troops, was an operational problem and a subject for the Joint Chiefs of Staff. The munitions committee would recommend the distribution of munitions and report through the Joint Chiefs of Staff to the President. The Joint Chiefs of Staff could alter or throw out its recommendations. However, room was left open for the agencies to appeal to the President.


Marshall did not want to duplicate the Chiefs of Staff Committee in London; the purpose was to set up a command post in Washington. At the present time, strategy was dominated by materiel,159 and proposals regarding materiel should come from the same source.160 The President or the Prime Minister could reverse the decision if the Chiefs of Staff did not appreciate the munitions committee’s recommendations. It was illogical to have an agency independent of operations, controlling the basic material required for successful operations.161


Churchill said the London Committee would be able to survey available materiel, and as Minister of Defence,162 he could tell the British Staff what line to take. Roosevelt said the reason for having the civilian chairman was to permit Beaverbrook and similar individuals to raise the political viewpoint on certain allocations.


Admiral King said if the Chiefs of Staff had representatives in London, it would duplicate the present set-up and that was not the intended idea. Marshall replied there would be a British committee in London. A similar committee would exist in the United States and the two would forward their recommendations to the Joint Chiefs of Staff. Marshall did not see how it would be possible to conduct a war properly with two independent agencies making allocations. Churchill thought the military representatives would take the purely strategic view.


General Marshall said there are two lots of munitions – British and American – under the present situation and they should be merged. Churchill suggested trying out the new method of handling allocations for a month without an announcement. Roosevelt suggested announcing the pooling of resources and the exchange of information on materials but not the procedure. Beaverbrook said the system should be trialled first because he envisaged many difficulties in England.


Churchill said the British were counting on lots of allocations from the United States and wanted to know what the situation was. They would be deeply interested in the margin or balance over and above 80% of the munitions. Marshall said there was more to the matter than this 15 or 20 per cent margin, actual requirements had been the basis for most allocations. For instance, many American units had been kept below full equipment so it could be used where it was needed more urgently. At the present time, the Army was planning to increase the number of divisions while only supplying them with about half of their equipment. Roosevelt stated, “We will call it a preliminary agreement and will try it out that way.”


Both Churchill and Admiral Pound agreed the system should be given a trial. Admiral King was concerned the Chiefs of Staff Committee in Washington would be duplicated in London. It was agreed the proposed system did not involve this.





Communications with London


Roosevelt wanted to work out a better system of communications with London. Marshall said the Signal Corps had advised him there was no way secret messages could be sent by telephone. The so-called scrambler system merely assured privacy. Admiral Stark added the longest cable line for telephone purposes was between Miami and Cuba.163


Roosevelt thought it should be possible for the two Governments to have the full use of one cable. Marshall replied one trunk cable was under lease at present. Roosevelt said the Government could not be cut in on if it had its own line. Marshall replied complete secrecy would be difficult because the transmission had to go through the hands of a certain number of individuals. He would check and advise the President at the earliest practicable date.164


Roosevelt also said a study should be made into improving communications between Washington and London. Admiral Stark said direct connections existed but messages could not be sent by telephone. Air Marshal Portal replied the British were working on an instrument which would ensure secret radio telephonic transmission and he felt it would be available in four months.





GYMNAST


Churchill asked if there was anything further to be said about GYMNAST. Dill said the merchant shipping necessary for GYMNAST operations would be delayed until May under the present plans. Marshall estimated there would be enough shipping to send another 12,500 men from the United States,165 four weeks after GYMNAST’s D-Day, regardless of the ABDA reinforcement. Roosevelt asked if the operation would be put into effect if the political situation could be kept stable until May. It was agreed it could be.


Roosevelt said if the Germans should move into the GYMNAST area in the interim, the thing to do would be to utilize whatever forces were available.166 Churchill replied they should make a ‘slash’ with whatever forces were available and operate on a guerrilla basis if necessary.167 The Secretary of the Navy168 suggested taking advantage of the delay to soften up the GYMNAST area. Roosevelt said he had taken steps to accomplish this. The meeting adjourned.


Roosevelt and Churchill Dinner Meeting,


14 January 1942169



On the last evening of Churchill’s visit Roosevelt, Churchill and I [Hopkins] had dinner together. They finalised the agreements on shipping raw materials and the allocation board. It was agreed the text would not be given out but the President would release a general statement at the appropriate time.


Roosevelt and Churchill reviewed the work of the past three weeks and Churchill expressed his warm appreciation of the way he and his associates had been treated and his confidence that great steps had been taken towards the unification of the prosecution of the war. Churchill had not decided whether to fly from Bermuda or to go in a battleship. The President did not know until later that Churchill had flown to England.


They were supposed to leave at 20:45 but it was 21:45 before the President and I drove with Churchill to his train to Norfolk, Virginia. A special train had been put on the siding at Sixth Street. The President said goodbye to Churchill in the ear and I walked with him and put him on the train and said goodbye to him, Pound and Portal. On the way back, the President made it clear he, too, was very pleased with the meetings. There was no doubt he had genuinely grown to like Churchill and I am sure Churchill equally liked the President.


Note: Arcadia Informal Meetings


The Prime Minister stayed in White House guest quarters during the Arcadia Meetings and had many private meetings with Roosevelt; they always lunched together with Harry Hopkins. No formal minutes were taken and while many of the subjects were covered in formal meetings, a few were not. For example:


1)   Opening a second front on the continent in the summer of 1942 if the Russian front was in serious difficulties.


2)   Maintaining their position against the Soviet Government.


3)   Sending relief supplies to the Greek people.


4)   India’s political situation.


5)   Cooperation on atomic energy research.


Post Arcadia Meetings: 23 January to 19 May


While the Arcadia meetings had addressed immediate problems, they raised more questions than they answered. The Combined Chiefs of Staff had plenty to study and they held twenty meetings over sixteen weeks, determining a world-wide strategy for the prosecution of the war. The meetings were held in the Federal Reserve Building in Washington DC. The following list illustrates the wide range of topics discussed.





23 January: First Meeting


General Wavell’s appreciation of the ABDA area; Naval reinforcements for ABDA area; Situation in the Philippines area; Free French forces in the Pacific; Employment of American Volunteers Group (the AVG or Flying Tigers) in Burma and China; SUPER-GYMNAST; Division of the Western Atlantic Area; US Transports in the Indian Ocean; Supplies for the Dutch in the ABDA Area.





27 January: Second Meeting


Naval Reinforcements for the ABDA area; Anzac area; Modified SUPER-GYMNAST; Support of Chiang Kai-shek; Defence of Tahiti; Inclusion of Darwin in the ABDA area; Supplies for the Dutch in the ABDA area; Malaya and New Guinea Situation; Employment of AVG in Burma and China; Russian attitude to Japan; Allocation of United States Heavy Bombardment Groups.





3 February: Third Meeting


US Naval Operations in the Western Pacific; Naval Reinforcements for the ABDA Area; Representation of the British Dominions and Dutch; Relations with Vichy France; Possible Japanese action against Australia and New Zealand; Defence of northeast approaches to Australia; Review of the ABDA area; Munitions Assignments Board; Movement of US troops to North Ireland; Cooperation with Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek; Naval Action in the Pacific; Portuguese Timor; Communications between General Wavell and Chiang Kai-shek.





10 February: Fourth Meeting


Appointments of British flag officers; Collaboration between United Nations; Combined Military Transportation Committee; Bolstering Chinese morale; Employment of air forces against Japan; Air Requirements for Australia and New Zealand; Extra fighter aircraft for the Dutch East Indies; Situation in the Dutch East Indies; Naval Command in the ABDA area; Mining the Torres Strait.





17 February: Fifth Meeting


Situation in the ABDA and Anzac areas; Armed forces in the ABDA and Anzac areas; Naval reinforcements for the ABDA area; Defense of West African air route; Predicted Merchant Shipping Losses; Munitions priorities; Tank production; Deploying two USAAF Heavy Bombardment Groups to the United Kingdom.





18 February: Sixth Meeting


Situation in the ABDA area.





21 February: Seventh Meeting


Situation in the ABDA area; Excluding Burma from the ABDA area; Command in New Caledonia.





23 February: Eighth Meeting


Situation in the ABDA area; Transferring British Submarines to the Eastern Fleet; Policy for Disposition of US and British Air forces; Madagascar; Command in New Caledonia; Combined Meterological Committee.





3 March: Ninth Meeting


Situation in the ABDA area; Demarkation of strategic areas in the Japanese War Zone; Deploying heavy bombers to Australia; Air transportation units for Burma; Assignment of munitions, Ground forces; Defence of the Caucasus.





7 March: Tenth Meeting


Bases in the Indian Ocean; Control and commands in the Anzac area; Personnel Shipping; Deployment of air forces.





10 March: Eleventh Meeting


Situation in the Dutch East Indies; Burma situation; US Aircraft deployed to the Dutch East Indies; Control and Commands in the Anzac Area; Demarkation of strategic areas in the Japanese War Zone; British troops in Java; Situation in New Guinea; Japanese intentions; Situation in the Middle East.





17 March: Twelfth Meeting


Assignment of Munitions; Arrival of General Macarthur in Australia; Merchant Shipping Losses; Movement of aircraft and air formations; Command in Iceland; Naval bases in the Indian Ocean; President’s proposals on the division of strategic responsibility.





24 March:: Thirteenth Meeting


Australian views on strategic control in the Pacific Area; Strategic responsibility of the United Kingdom and the United States; Command in Iceland; Relief of British Troops in Iceland; Ascension Island; Assignment of munitions; Offensive operations in Europe; British Combined Operations Staff.





31 March: Fourteenth Meeting


Strategic responsibility of the United Kingdom and the United States; Relief of British Troops in Iceland; US aircraft allocated to the Dutch East Indies; Escort vessel requirements; Allocation of air forces.





7 April: Fifteenth Meeting


German capabilities in Turkey, Syria and Iraq; United States and British Strategy; Aircraft Situation; US aircraft allocated to the Dutch East Indies; Provision of Fighter Aircraft for Australia; Aircraft for India; Landing craft production.





21 April: Sixteenth Meeting


Naval bases and repair facilities; Rapid military communications for the United Nations; Allocation of Transport Airplanes for USSR; British use of US aircraft carriers; Supplies to Russia; Situation in the Indian Ocean; General Marshall’s visit to London; Admiral Stark’s review of the situation.





28 April: Seventeenth Meeting


Transport aircraft for Burma and India; Auxiliary aircraft carriers; Transporting troops on cargo vessels; Preparation for war; BOLERO;170 Assignment of munitions; Requisition of materiel for the Southwest Pacific Area; Vichy France possessions in the Caribbean.





5 May: Eighteenth Meeting


Requisition of material for Southwest Pacific Area; Transport aircraft for India; Situation in the Philippines; Enemy intentions.





12 May: Nineteenth Meeting


Requisition of material for the Southwest Pacific Area; Troop movements for BOLERO; Allocation of Aircraft of the United Nations.





19 May: Twentieth Meeting


BOLERO; Adequacy of combined communications; German Capabilities in Syria and Iraq; New type of German gas; Air offensive against submarine bases, building yards and heavy ships.





1     President Roosevelt and Prime Minister Churchill met their military advisors to discuss General Marshall’s memorandum.


2     President Franklin D. Roosevelt (1882–1945), President of the United States from 4 March 1933 until his death on 12 April 1945.


3     Prime Minister Winston L. Spencer-Churchill (1974–1965), Prime Minister of Great Britain 1940–1945 and 1951–1955.


4     The Vichy government of France, headed by Marshal Philippe Pétain, which collaborated with the Nazis between July 1940 and August 1944.


5     António de Oliveira Salazar (1889–1970) was Prime Minister of Portugal from 1932 to 1974.


6     Iceland was Danish but when Germany invaded Denmark on 9 April 1940, Britain took action. Over 700 Royal Marines invaded on 10 May 1940 and before long there were 25,000 troops on the island. Defence of Iceland transferred to the United States on 7 July 1941 and before long there were 40,000 troops on the island.


7     The Azores were a Portuguese colony of small islands 930 miles west of Lisbon, (now the ‘Autonomous Region of the Azores’). The Cape Verde Islands were another Portuguese colony of small islands 350 miles off the coast of West Africa.


8     President Getúlio D. Vargas (1882–1954) was the dictator of Brazil and there had been an increase in military and civilian trade with Germany. Hitler had invited Brazil to join the Axis in 1937 but Vargas had refused. Starting in 1940 the US had reached out to the Brazilians, offering large loans. Vargas would eventually break off diplomatic relations with Germany in January 1942 and, after naval attacks, declared war on Germany and Italy on 22 August 1942.


9     Singapore surrendered on 15 February 1942, at the end of the Japanese offensive through Malaya; 130,000 British and Commonwealth troops were captured during the campaign. Churchill called it “the worst disaster and largest capitulation in British history”.


10   Japanese troops had landed in the Philippines on 8 December 1941. They would capture the main islands by 10 April 1942 and the final outpost on Corregidor on 8 May.


11   Dakar is on the westernmost tip of Africa, and was in French West Africa; it is now the capital of Senegal.


12   Consolidated PBY Catalinas were American flying boats used for anti-submarine patrols, convoy escorts, patrol bombing and air-sea rescue.


13   Eamon de Valera (1882–1975), as head of the Republic of Ireland’s government, saw that the country remained neutral throughout World War II (known in Ireland as ‘The Emergency’).


14   During the late 1930s and early 1940s land-based planes did not have the range to make Atlantic crossings. Foynes in Country Limerick, Ireland, was the last port of call for seaplanes and would become one of the largest civilian airports in Europe during World War II.


15   The Lend-Lease Act had been signed on 11 March 1941 and the United States shipped supplies to the United Kingdom, Soviet Union, China and Free French troops under the program. $50.1 billion (equivalent to $647 billion today) of supplies were shipped.


16   Admiral Harold R. Stark (1880–1972), Chief of US Naval Operations; nickname Betty.


17   Lord William Maxwell Beaverbrook (1879–1964), British Minister of Supply; nickname Max.


18   William S. Knudsen (1879–1948) worked for Roosevelt on war production. He was commissioned a Lieutenant General in the US Army In January 1942, the only civilian ever to join the Army at such a high rank. He worked as a consultant and trouble shooter for the War Department.


19   Secretary of State Henry L. Stimson (1867–1950).


20   In Northern Ireland.


21   The Prime Minister understood the limitation was tonnage and anti-aircraft weapons.


22   After six months on the retreat, Soviet troops stopped in front of Moscow. Fresh troops from Siberia counterattacked on 6 December and by 7 January the freezing and exhausted German troops began withdrawing. It was the turning point in the Eastern Front campaign.


23   Cyrenaica is eastern Libya.


24   Ripe; a moment of opportunity.


25   Malta is 75 miles south of Sicily and 200 miles east of Tunisia.


26   Bizerte at the northern tip of Tunisia, 50 miles north of Tunis.


27   Two ports on Morocco’s coast; Agadir is 250 miles southwest of Casablanca.


28   Spain had just come out of a civil war (1936–1939) and was ruled by dictator General Francisco Franco (1892–1975), a regime close to Germany and Italy.


29   Owing to the problems with the climate and terrain. It was also closer to the two countries, requiring fewer transport ships.


30   Henry Stimson.


31   The West Coast of the United States.


32   To stop aircraft plants being easy targets for bombing raids. Britain had experience of decentralising industrial plants during the Blitz.


33   Used as a supply base for operations in the Pacific.


34   Admiral Ernest J. King (1878–1956), Commander-in-Chief, United States Fleet, and Chief of Naval Operations (COMINCH-CNO).


35   HMS King George V (41) was a 1939 ship and the lead ship of the King George V class battleships and had been involved in the pursuit and sinking of the Bismarck in May 1941.


36   HMS Renown was a World War I era battle cruiser and had also been involved in the pursuit of the Bismarck; she spent most of 1940–1941 based at Gibraltar.


37   HMS Nelson (28) was a 1930 battleship and she had been torpedoed by an Italian airplane on 27 September 1941; she would be ready for action in May 1942.


38   HMS Rodney (29), Nelson’s sister ship, played a major part in the sinking of the Bismarck.


39   HMS Anson (49) was another King George V class battleship and she would be ready for action in May 1942.


40   Hitler had attacked Russia on 22 June 1941, codename BARBAROSSA, and his armies had captured most of the Ukraine and Belorussia. Churchill was correct because Plan BLUE was an advance southeast by Army Group South towards Stalingrad and the Caucasus.


41   The Near East as in Egypt. Eighth Army was just about to finish Operation CRUSADER, having advanced across Libya and relieved Tobruk.


42   Note: “I assume this was on a basis of some agreement with the French.”


43   Johor is the area immediately north of Singapore.


44   It would be less than two months.


45   Burma (now Myanmar) is east of India and north of Malaysia.


46   Two of the 17th Indian Division brigades surrendered at Singapore six weeks later.


47   General Archibald Wavell (1883–1950) had just become Commander-in-Chief, India.


48   General Sir Claude J.E. Auchinleck (1884–1981) had just become Commander-in-Chief, Middle East; nickname the Auk.


49   Two of 18th Division’s brigades reached Singapore on 13 January 1942 and surrendered four weeks later.


50   The supply route for all campaigns into northern Burma started at Ledo on the border with India.


51   For use by the American divisions destined for Northern Ireland. By supplying artillery it meant that the divisions took up less space on ships. The same had been done in World War I to get American divisions into battle as quickly as possible.


52   The Consolidated PBY Catalina American flying boat.


53   Held in two parts.


54   Recorded by one of Churchill’s assistants.


55   General Douglas MacArthur (1880–1964) would continue to fight in the Philippines until March 1942.


56   The incident illustrates the danger of the President and the Prime Minister talking off the record, when someone was taking notes. While the two Heads of State could clear up what they had said, rumours could quickly spread and the press could cause a lot of trouble if they published their private exchanges. None of the dinner meetings between Roosevelt and Churchill were recorded. The meetings with their Chiefs of Staff were.


57   Field Marshal Sir John G. Dill (1881–1944), Chief of British Joint Staff Mission in Washington DC having just been moved from the post of the Chief of the Imperial General Staff by Churchill.


58   What would become Operation TORCH in November 1942.


59   Following the United States entry into World War I in April 1917.


60   Owing to bad weather in the English Channel. Germany would have its hands full in Russia in April 1942.


61   They were the only access between South America and the United States.


62   The United States’ ‘Good Neighbour Policy’ was Roosevelt’s foreign policy towards Latin American countries. It was a policy of non-intervention, non-interference and of creating economic opportunities. This involved shipping of exports and imports.


63   The Grace Line (or W.R. Grace and Company) operated a shipping service between North and South America.


64   Admiral Richmond Kelly Turner (1885–1961), Assistant Chief of Staff to the Commander-in-Chief, United States Fleet.


65   The ships were too big for Irish ports so they would have to dock on the river Clyde, Glasgow, and the troops would have to be shipped across the Irish Sea to Northern Ireland on smaller vessels.


66   Admiral Richmond K. Turner, recently appointed Assistant Chief of Staff to the CiC, United States Fleet, had the nickname Terrible Turner.


67   Secretary of State Stimson.


68   The troops only had to take their personal equipment because artillery was being supplied by the British.


69   RMS Queen Mary and RMS Queen Elizabeth would be converted into the largest troopships in the war, often carrying 15,000 men in a single voyage. They were also the fastest and often sailed out of convoy because it was difficult for U-boats to catch them.


70   Air cover did not protect the centre section of the Atlantic and the battleship would need a small fleet of cruisers and destroyers to protect it from U-boats.


71   Vice Admiral Emory S. Land (1879–1971), chairman of the US Maritime Commission, would oversee the design and construction of 4000 Liberty ships and Victory ships during World War II. Land would soon be Administrator of the War Shipping Administration (WSA), responsible for allocation of non-combatant ships.


72   Captain (later Vice Admiral) Howard L. Vickery (1892–1946), assistant to Vice Admiral Land.


73   USS Kitty Hawk (APV–1) was taking planes to Pearl Harbor to replace those destroyed in the Japanese air attack on 7 December; it was her maiden voyage.


74   The first P–40 Tomahawk single engine fighter planes had seen action with British Commonwealth squadrons in the Middle East and North African campaigns in June 1941. The P–40D was known as the Kittyhawk.


75   Referring to the huge area between Australia and China, including Burma, Malaysia, Philippines and the Dutch East Indies. It would soon become the American-British-Dutch-Australian (ABDA) Command area and commanded by General Wavell.


76   After all, Japan had attacked and captured American territories.


77   Admiral Sir Thomas S. V. Phillips, RN (1888–1941), commander of Z Force during the invasion of Malaya. Phillips was killed in action when his flagship, HMS Prince of Wales, was sunk on 10 December 1941. His nickname was Tom Thumb because of his short stature.


78   General Hein ter Poorten (1887–1968). He would have to surrender the island of Java on 8 March 1942 and spent the rest of the war in captivity.


79   Admiral of the Fleet Sir A. Dudley P. R. Pound, RN (1870–1943) First Sea Lord.


80   Rear Admiral Edwin T. Layton (1903–1984), Combat Intelligence Officer for the Pacific Ocean area.


81   William Franklin ‘Frank’ Knox (1874–1944), Secretary of the US Navy from July 1940 to April 1944.


82   The Japanese invaded Borneo on 16 December and by the end of the month they had driven the garrison into the jungle; it eventually surrendered on 1 April 1942.


83   There was a dinner meeting between President Roosevelt, Prime Minister Churchill and Prime Minister Mackenzie King after the meeting.


84   Maxim Litvinov (1876–1951) ex-People’s Commissar for Foreign Affairs; Litvinov was sacked by Stalin in May 1939 (the Germans refused to deal with him because he was Jewish) and replaced by Vyacheslav Molotov (1890–1896).


85   John Loudon (1866–1955) Dutch Minister for Foreign Affairs in the First World War.


86   Approved with a few changes.


87   Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek (1887–1975), Chairman of the National Government of China from October 1928 to December 1931 and August 1943 to May 1948.


88   The American-British-Dutch-Australian (ABDA) Command area.


89   The dividing line across the Pacific Ocean.


90   1100 nautical miles north of New Zealand’s North Island.


91   The area was to the east of the ABDA command area.


92   Alexandria, Egypt. The French squadron included the battleship Lorraine, three heavy cruisers, a light cruiser, three destroyers and a submarine. They would be used by the Allies after May 1943 following negotiations with General Henri Giraud (1879–1949) of the Free French Forces.


93   William C. Bullitt (1891–1967), US ambassador to France; the only ambassador to remain in Paris after the German invasion of France in May 1940 (much to Roosevelt’s annoyance, he wanted him to follow the French government to Bordeaux).


94   Oliver Lyttelton, 1st Viscount Chandos (1893–1972), Minister of State in the Middle East, based in Cairo.


95   Codename TOKYO.


96   The Canary Islands are a group of small Spanish islands 80 miles off the coast of Africa; opposite the border of Morocco and what is now the Western Sahara.


97   US Marines occupied Iceland after the British. They were needed for amphibious operations in the Pacific, so they were replaced by Army troops who still had to complete their training.


98   The Allied Big Four, nine American allies in Central America and the Caribbean, the four British Dominions, British India, and eight Allied governments-in-exile.


99   Dr. Soong Tse-ven (1891–1971), China’s Minister of Foreign Affairs.


100 Maxim Litvinov (1876–1951) Soviet Deputy Commissar of Foreign Affairs and Ambassador to the United States.


101 Harry L. Hopkins (1890–1946) was one of President Roosevelt’s closest advisors and administrator of the Lend Lease program to the UK and the Soviet Union. He had first met Stalin in July 1941 and accompanied the President to the meetings at Cairo, Tehran, Casablanca and Yalta. He wanted to resign after Roosevelt’s death but made one final visit to Moscow for President Harry S. Truman.


102 General Henry H. Arnold (1886–1950), nicknamed ‘Hap’, Commander-in-Chief of the US Army Air Forces.


103 The action to be taken in Africa depended on the Vichy French, while the Brazilian situation was still an unknown quantity.


104 Henry Stimson.


105 The political repercussions from a military failure would make Roosevelt’s position very difficult.


106 Air Chief Marshal Charles F.A. Portal, 1st Viscount Portal of Hungerford, RAF (1893–1971), Chief of the Air Staff.


107 The Germans had prepared Plan GREEN, the invasion of Ireland; some say it was real while some say it was a plan circulated to worry the British. Either way, it was never carried out.


108 The British-American invasion of French North Africa would later be called Operation TORCH.


109 The scenario under consideration is if the Wehrmacht invaded Spain, they could overrun airfields and the Luftwaffe would use them to attack the landing.


110 Meaning the Afrika Korps was already in North Africa.


111 A clandestine group who could capture or sabotage key installations.


112 The first Japanese troops landed on Luzon, the largest of the Philippine Islands, on 12 December. But the main attack was made on 22 December as 48,000 troops landed at three points; another 7000 landed the following day.


113 In other words, across the beach, which required specialist landing craft to make the journey from ship to shore.


114 There would be three task forces; the Western Task Force landed at Safi, Casablanca and Mehdia; the Centre Task Force landed at Oran/Arzew; the Eastern Task Force landed at Algiers.


115 The Rio de Oro (Spanish for Gold River) was the coastal area south of Morocco, now the northern part of the Western Sahara. In other words, a landing in the Spanish possession was contemplated.


116 Part of the plan was to seize airfields early on, so carrier-based planes could transfer to them.


117 Army pursuit planes cannot land on the decks of a carrier.


118 If one was attacked, the planes could land at another.


119 An exercise had been planned for December 1941 at New River, North Carolina, but the U-boat menace forced it to be moved to the southern shores of Chesapeake Bay.


120 William Joseph Donovan (1883–1959), Coordinator of Information (COI) since June 1941, attempting to bring together intelligence from the Army, Navy, Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) and the US Department of State. In 1942 he became head of the new Office of Strategic Services (OSS). Nickname Wild Bill.


121 Mieczyslaw Slowikowski (codename Rygor, Polish for Rigour) headed Agency Africa, gathering information used to plan Operation TORCH.


122 An invitation by the French to land.


123 Note: “if it is received.”


124 MAGNET was the codename for shipping troops from the United States to Northern Ireland.


125 The four liners were stripped of their plush interior decor, painted navy grey for camouflage and fitted with degaussing coils to protect against magnetic mines. The Queen Mary often carried over 15,000 troops at a time and on occasions carried a special passenger, Colonel Warden, Prime Minister Churchill’s codename when crossing the Atlantic.


126 Field Marshall Erwin J. E. Rommel (1891–1944), Commander-in-Chief of the Afrika Korps; nickname the Desert Fox.


127 Operation CRUSADER was just coming to a close. Eighth Army had advanced 500 miles since 18 November, from the Egyptian border across Libya to El Agheila.


128 The Vichy government of France that collaborated with the Nazis.


129 French Admiral Jean Louis Xavier François Darlan (1881–1942) and Marshal Henri Pétain’s deputy in the Vichy Government. The majority of the French fleet was in North Africa and there were fears it could fall into German hands.


130 It had been figured that a period of three weeks grace could be obtained from the time the Germans commenced their movement into Spain.


131 New Caledonia is a group of islands 750 miles east of Australia’s northeast coast. It was a French colony in 1941.


132 USS Mount Vernon (AP22) disembarked British and Commonwealth troops at Singapore on 13 January. USS Wakefield (AP21) and USS West Point (AP23) did the same on 29 January 1942. They were captured by the Japanese only a month later.


133 The British had taken over the ageing steam powered George Washington on 29 September under Lend Lease. However, her boilers could not drive her and she was returned to the US War Shipping Administration in April 1942.


134 US Authorities seized the Swedish-American Line passenger liner SS Kungsholm on 12 December 1941 and operated it as a troopship under the name John Ericsson.


135 Lend-Lease was a United States program of supplies to her Allies, including Britain, the Soviet Union, China and France. It was signed into law in March 1941 and lasted until the end of the war. Supplies were sold to Britain at a heavy discount at the end of the war.


136 Supplies for the British and Commonwealth troops engaged in Iraq. They were delivered to the port of Basra, at the head of the Persian Gulf.


137 RMS Queen Elizabeth was a 1938 luxury liner while RMS Aquitania was a 1913 Cunard liner.


138 Harry Hopkins (1890–1946), Roosevelt’s chief diplomatic advisor and trouble shooter; also Roosevelt’s unofficial emissary to Prime Minister Winston Churchill.


139 Archangel (now Arkhangelsk) is on the north coast of European Russia. Closed due to the winter ice.


140 General Arnold, commander of the US Army Air Force.


141 Lord Beaverbrook, British Minister of Supply.


142 The line of communications between the United States, Australia and the whole ABDA area.


143 Hopkins was also administrator of the Lend Lease program to the UK and the Soviet Union.


144 Admiral Emory S. Land, US War Shipping Administrator, and Sir Arthur Salter (1881–1975), head of the British Shipping Mission, representatives of the United States and Great Britain on the Combined Shipping Adjustment Board.


145 D-Day was the day loading would commence.


146 East Coast of the United States, including the passage of the Panama Canal in Central America.


147 Combat loaded meant armed and ready to step ashore and fight.


148 Air Chief Marshal Portal, RAF, Chief of the Air Staff.


149 The announcement was made after Churchill arrived back in England, on 17 January.


150 The Combined Raw Materials Board would source raw materials to meet the needs of the war industries, which in turn had to meet the requirements of the armed forces and civilians. Foodstuffs, oil and metal ores are just a few items that had to be sourced around the world and then shipped to the factories.


151 Sir Clive L Baillieu, 1st Baron Baillieu (1889–1967), Director-General of the British Purchasing Commission in Washington from 1941 to 1942, as Head of the Raw Materials Mission in Washington and as Representative on the Combined Raw Materials Board from 1942 to 1943.


152 The Combined Shipping Adjustment Board would unify the work of the US War Shipping Administration and the British Ministry of War Transportation to maximise use of shipping.


153 The United States Maritime Commission had been set up in 1936 to formulate a merchant ship building program to replace aging World War I era ships belonging to the US Merchant Marine.


154 Frederick Leathers, 1st Viscount Leathers (1883–1965), Minister of War Transport 1941–1945.


155 The US Army and Navy Munitions board needed a committee to decide where munitions would be sent to around the world.


156 One group operating in London and one in Washington.


157 Deciding where to send ammunition, because each area commander would be asking for more than could be supplied.


158 The Lend Lease Act was signed on 11 March 1941.


159 They had the troops but munitions were scarce and once made, they had to be shipped to a theatre.


160 Strategy around the world could not be agreed until the Chiefs of Staff knew if the equipment, munitions and supplies were available.


161 On the other hand, the Munitions Allocation Committee had to understand the Chiefs of Staff plans for strategy, so that they sent ammunition to the right commands.


162 Churchill was both Prime Minister and Minister of Defence.


163 It is 90 miles from the end of Florida (Key West) to Cuba. It is nearly 3500 miles from Cornwall, England, to Washington DC.


164 It was a case of balancing secrecy with availability.


165 In addition to the original 12,000 to go combat loaded.


166 If Rommel moved his Afrika Korps troops into Algeria or Morocco.


167 The No.1 Long Range Patrol Unit had been operating on a guerrilla basis since July 1940 and in November it was renamed the Long Range Desert Group. Patrols operated behind enemy lines, keeping a watch on Axis movements and working with men of the Special Air Service, carrying them on hit and run raids.


168 William F. Knox.


169 Notes by Harry Hopkins.


170 The US military build-up in the United Kingdom.




Second Washington Conference: 19–25 June 1942


The conference was hastily arranged to deal with strategic questions that had arisen out of the post-Arcadia Combined Chiefs of Staffs meetings. Prime Minister Churchill flew from Scotland on 17 June in a flying boat, landing in Washington DC the following evening. He was only accompanied by five staff, including General Alan Brooke and Major General Ismay.


The President held his first meeting in the British Embassy and then flew to the President’s home at Hyde Park, New York, on 19 June. The two Heads of State headed to Washington two days later to continue the rest of the conference. Very little documentation relating to the Conference has been found.


17 June


President meets with his Senior Military Advisors.


19 June


Churchill meets Marshall.





First Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


Offensive plans for 1942–1943.





Informal Chiefs of Staff Meeting


BOLERO and GYMNAST.


Roosevelt and Churchill Meeting.


20 June





Second Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


Offensive plans for 1942–1943.


Roosevelt and Churchill Meeting. The atomic bomb project.


21 June





Roosevelt and Churchill Meeting


Plans and preparations for operations on the continent of Europe in 1943 must be pushed forward with all speed and energy on as large a scale as possible. The United States and Great Britain should be prepared to act offensively in 1942.


Operations in Western Europe in 1942, would, if successful, yield greater political and strategic gains than operations in any other theatre. Plans and preparations for the operations in this theatre are to be pressed forward with all possible speed, energy and ingenuity. The most resolute efforts must be made to overcome the obvious dangers and difficulties of the enterprise. If a sound and sensible plan can be contrived, we should not hesitate to give effect to it. If, on the other hand, detailed examination shows that despite all efforts success is improbable, we must be ready with an alternative.


Provided political conditions are favourable, the best alternative in 1942 is Operation GYMNAST. Accordingly, plans for this operation should be completed as soon as possible. The forces for GYMNAST would be found from BOLERO units which had not yet left the United States.


BOLERO planning will be centred in London. GYMNAST planning will be centred in Washington.


As a further alternative, the possibility of operating in Spain and Portugal in the autumn and winter of 1942 should also be considered by the Combined Chiefs.





Roosevelt and Churchill Meeting with Senior Staff Officers


Naval cooperation in the South Pacific.


22 June






Roosevelt and Churchill Meeting1



North African situation; BOLERO; speculation about an American force in the Middle East.


Roosevelt, Churchill and Soong Meeting.


23 June


Roosevelt and Churchill meet Shipping Advisors.


Escort ships; Merchant ships construction program.


Roosevelt and Churchill meet with Duke of Windsor.


24 June


Roosevelt and Churchill meet with King Peter of Yugoslavia.


25 June





Third Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


US reinforcements for the Middle East.


Twelfth Meeting of the Pacific War Council.2


Roosevelt, Churchill and Prime Minister MacKenzie King.





1     They had just heard about the fall of Tobruk, depressing Churchill.


2     The Council was established on 30 March 1942 and held its first meeting on 1 April. It discussed the war effort against Japan. Meetings were held almost weekly.




The Symbol Conference, 15–23 January 1943


Following the Arcadia Conference, 1942 started badly with the unexpected surrender of Singapore on 15 February. While there was stalemate in Burma, the Allies worked to establish a line of supply across the Atlantic to secure the British Isles.


The first good news came at the beginning of June when the United States Navy defeated the Japanese Navy at the Battle of Midway; it would mark the highpoint of Japanese aspirations in the Pacific. Meanwhile, US and Australian troops were holding their own against the Japanese on Guadalcanal, New Guinea and the Solomon Islands by the end of the year.


In the Mediterranean Theatre Rommel had forced the British back along the North Africa coast, nearly to Cairo. They struck back at the end of October in the Second Battle of El Alamein, the turning point in the Western Desert campaign. Operation TORCH, the Allied invasion of Vichy-held North Africa, began on 8 November, bringing US troops into action in the Mediterranean. By the time of the SYMBOL meeting in Casablanca in February 1943, the battle to clear the North African coast was well underway.


President Roosevelt left Miami, Florida, on 11 January and flew the 5000 miles across the Atlantic to the North African port of Casablanca. It was the first time a president had flown while in office and the first time a president had left the United States in time of war.


The conference was held on the outskirts of Casablanca in the large ANFA hotel overlooking the ocean. The building was surrounded by villas and palm trees and protected by barbed wire, armed guards and secret service men. While Prime Minister Churchill attended, Marshal Stalin turned down his invitation because the critical battle of Stalingrad demanded his full attention. General Henri Giraud, High Commissioner of French Africa, and General Charles de Gaulle, leader of the Fighting French forces, attended but they did not take part in the main meetings. There were three main conferences and 15 Chiefs of Staff conferences between 14 and 24 January 1943.


14 January





First Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


A discussion of the general war situation.





Second Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


A discussion over combined strategy.





Third Combined Chiefs of Staff Meeting


The U-boat War; the war in North Africa and strategy in the European Theatre.


15 January: First Symbol Meeting





The Situation in North Africa


General Eisenhower reviewed the situation on his front. The Allied forces who had landed in French North Africa were equipped to capture three ports.1 They were not a mobile army and had little strength for offensive operations. This arrangement had been necessary since the French attitude was an unknown quantity.2 General Anderson3 had advanced with great boldness and rapidity, taking every kind of risk in an attempt to get into Tunis and Bizerte in the first rush.4 He had finally been stopped by dive bombing when he got into the open country near Tunis and by wet weather, which hampered movement off the roads. Every effort was made to reinforce the forward troops, units being moved from Oran and from Casablanca.5


It was hoped to launch an offensive on 22 December to capture Tunis, making use of superior gun power, but the weather had turned against them and they had to call off the offensive. A means of carrying out operations in the drier country in the south had been sought and an operation was now been planned for the capture of Sfax6 which would begin on 24 January.7 Eisenhower had been waiting for a chance to coordinate action with General Alexander8 because it was important the timing should fit in with the movements of the Eighth Army.9


Eisenhower then gave details of the forthcoming operation and the forces to be employed. It was intended to use the American 1st Armored Division,10 a regimental combat team and additional units of artillery; they would also use the Gafsa and Tebessa airfields11 for supporting aircraft. The Germans had disposed their armour northeast of Pont du Fahs12 and it would be necessary to guard against a counter stroke towards the rear of the forces attacking Sfax. It was hoped to put supplies into Sfax by sea to ease the maintenance problem.


It was hoped this operation would be of real assistance to the Eighth Army,13 because the Germans were sending supplies by rail to Sfax and then using small coastal vessels to move them to Rommel. The Sfax force would be separated by 75 miles of rough country from the British First Army and there were two critical points, Pont du Fahs and Foudouk,14 which were held by the French. Apart from one regiment in Algiers, and part of a division in Oran, there was virtually nothing between the troops in the front line and Morocco.15 Troops in Morocco were too far away to move up the long and difficult line of communications.


First US Army had seven to ten days supplies of all kinds but they could launch an attack if the Germans offered an opening. In the whole theatre of war there were now about 320,000 troops. Supplies were ample in the Casablanca area but again, transportation difficulties prevented much being moved forward.


Eisenhower described the airfields being used by the Allied Air Forces and the difficulties of keeping them serviceable. He said the political situation was very closely related to the military situation in view of the very vulnerable nature of the line of communications, which French troops were guarding. Eisenhower said Air Chief Marshal Tedder16 had twice visited Algiers and detailed plans had been worked out to ensure the coordinated action of the Air Forces from the Middle East, Malta and French North Africa. Medium bombers based on Philippeville17 were also being used against shipping.


General Alexander gave an account of Eighth Army operations. The El Alamein position was about 40 miles long and occupied by four full strength German divisions18 and ten Italian divisions. The position had no open flank, so the problem was one of punching a hole through which the armour could be launched.19 The attack went in under a very heavy barrage of 500 guns on 24 October.20 Infantry advanced through deep minefields for 4,000 to 6,000 yards. For the next ten days there was severe fighting designed to eat up the enemy’s reserves and prepare the way for the final breakthrough. On 4 November the front was broken and the opportunity came for the fine American Sherman tanks to pour through.21


Tobruk was reached in two weeks and the army was at El Agheila by the end of the month.22 They had the satisfaction of advancing twice as fast as Rommel had moved during their retreat. The Germans did not have enough transport to go round but they had made certain it was used to move German units.23 Their casualties in twelve days were 15,000; the enemy’s must have totalled between 60,000 and 70,000 and Rommel must have lost nearly 5,000 vehicles.24 None of this would have been possible had it not been for the air superiority gained by the air forces who had done magnificent work throughout.


Everything depended upon the use of Benghazi for the advance beyond El Agheila.25 The Germans had left the harbour in a terrible mess. However, by dint of fine work on the part of the Navy, a flow of 3000 tons per day was reached. A severe gale had breached the mole and sunk several ships, interrupting the flow, but it was now back up to 2000 tons per day. Sirte26 was useless but there was a small place near El Agheila where 400 tons per day had been unloaded.27 The current operation was an attack by the 7th Armoured Division,28 the New Zealand Division and the 51st Highland Division, who were carrying ten days’ supplies and 500 miles of petrol with them.29 It was hoped to reach Tripoli30 by 26 January. The enemy’s fighting value was hard to assess but he was believed to have at his disposal the following forces:


15th Panzer Division with 30 tanks and 21st Panzer Division with about 27 tanks.31
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